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WLLIAMS, Circuit Judge:

Mary Warnick pleaded gquilty to aiding and abetting in the
di stribution of cocaine base within 1000 feet of a school. See 21
U S.C.A 88 841(a)(1l), 841(b)(1)(C, 860 (West 1999), and 18
US CA 8 2 (Wst 2000). On appeal, she contends that the
district court erred in failing to decrease her sentencing
gui del i nes offense | evel pursuant to the safety valve provision in

United States Sentencing Guidelines Manual 8§ 2D1.1(b)(6) (2000).

Because we agree that the district court erred by determ ning that
Warnick was ineligible for the 8§ 2Dl1.1(b)(6) safety valve, we
vacate and remand for the district court to reconsider Warnick's
sentence using the appropriate offense |evel.

l.

On Decenber 5, 2000, Mary Warnick and twenty-five other
defendants were naned in a 65-count indictnment charging various
drug-rel ated offenses arising fromthe trafficking of cocai ne base
in Jefferson County, West Virginia. Warni ck was charged wth
conspiracy to distribute cocaine base, in violation of 21 U S. C A
8 841(a)(l) (Count 1); maintaining a place for the use and
di stribution of cocaine base, in violation of 21 US.C.A § 856
(Count 7); and aiding and abetting in the distribution of cocaine
base within 1000 feet of a school, in violation of 21 U S.C A

88 841(a)(1l), 841(b)(1)(CO, 860, and 18 U.S.C.A. 8§ 2 (Count 48).



On January 22, 2001, Warnick entered into a plea agreenent,
wher eby she agreed to plead guilty to Count 48, distribution of
cocai ne base within 1000 feet of a school, in exchange for the
Governnent’ s dism ssal of Counts 1 and 7. Prior to the sentencing
hearing, Warnick filed an objection to the conputation of her
offense level in the presentence report, alleging that she was
entitled to a two-point decrease in her offense |evel pursuant to
the U S. S.G § 2D1.1(b)(6) safety val ve provision. On May 3, 2001,
the district court overrul ed Warni ck’ s obj ecti on and sent enced her
to 57 nonths inprisonnent based upon an offense |level of 25 and
Crimnal H story Category |I. On May 7, 2001, Warnick filed a
noti ce of appeal to this court.

(I

On appeal, we nust determne whether one who has been
convicted of a violation of 21 US. CA § 860 is eligible for a
reduction in his offense level pursuant to the safety valve
provision in US S .G § 2D1.1(b)(6). W review the district
court’s interpretation of the relevant Sentencing Guidelines de

novo. United States v. Daughtrey, 874 F.2d 213, 218 (4th Cir.

1989).
Because Warni ck was convicted of a violation of 21 U S.C A

8 860, her guideline sentence is determined by US.S.G § 2D1. 2,



which cross-references US.S.G 8§ 2D1.1.! At issue is the scope of
this cross-reference. Warnick contends that U S.S.G § 1Bl.5,
whi ch general |l y provi des gui dance on how to apply cross-references
within the Guidelines, requires the sentencing court to apply the
§ 2D1.1 guideline inits entirety.

US S .G 8§ 1B1.5 distingui shes between cross-references to an
entire guideline and cross-references to a particular section
within a guideline. Compare U.S.S.G 8§ 1B1.5(b)(1) ("“An
instruction to use the offense | evel fromanot her of fense gui del i ne
refers to the offense level from the entire offense guideline
(i.e., the base offense |level, specific offense characteristics,
cross references, and special instructions), except as provided in
subdivision (2) below”), wth USSG § 1B1.5(b)(2) (“An
instruction to use a particular subsection or table from another
of fense guideline refers only to the particul ar subsection or table

reference, and not to the entire offense guideline.”). To

!Section 2D1.2 provides:

(a) Base Ofense Level (Apply the Geatest):

(1) 2 plus the offense level from § 2D1.1
applicable to the quantity of controlled
substances directly involving a protected
| ocation . . .; or

(2) 1 plus the offense level from § 2D1.1
applicable to the total quantity of the
control |l ed substances involved in the of fense

UsS S G § 201. 2.



determne which type of <cross-reference is contained wthin
US S G 8§ 2D1.2(a), we begin with the text of that guideline.
Section 2Dl1.2(a)’s cross-reference directs the sentencing
court to use the “offense level from § 2D1.1 applicable to the
quantity of controlled substances directly involving a protected
location. . . .” US. S.G § 2D1.2(a). The Drug Quantity Table is
the only subsection in 8 2D1.1 that provides an offense |eve
applicable to a particular drug quantity. See U S.S.G § 2D1.1(c).
Thus, one construction of 8§ 2D1.2(a)’s cross-reference is that it
directs the sentencing court to use a particul ar subsection within
8§ 2D1.1, the Drug Quantity Table, as opposed to the entire § 2D1.1
gui del i ne. There is, however, an alternative construction.
Sections 2D1.2(a)(1) and (a)(2) establish two di fferent nethods for
calculating the offense |evel. Subsection (a)(1l) requires the
sentencing court to consider only the quantity of drugs "invol ving
a protected | ocation or an underage or pregnant individual," while
subsection (a)(2) requires the sentencing court to consider "the
total quantity of controlled substances involved in the offense.”
Thus, in cases "in which only a part of the relevant conduct
directly involved a protected |ocation or an underage or pregnant
i ndi vidual, subsections (a)(1) and (a)(2) may result in different
offense levels.” U S.S.G § 2D1.2, comment. n.1. It may be that
t he purpose of the "applicable to the quantity"” and "applicable to

the total quantity" |anguage, therefore, is not tolimt the scope



of the cross-reference, but sinply to focus the sentencing court's
attention on discrete aspects of the underlying offense when

appl yi ng subsections (a)(1l) and (a)(2). Cf. United States v.

Sanpson, 140 F.3d 585, 594 (4th Gr. 1998) (concluding that §
2D1. 2(a)' s cross-reference to 8 2D1. 1 requi res the sentenci ng court
to di stinguish the anmount of drugs distributed within 1,000 feet of
a school from the amount of drugs not distributed within that
di stance of the school). Under this analysis, the rel evant cross-
reference | anguage is "the offense level from88 2D1.1," which is
a reference to the entire 2D1.1 guideline, including any
adj ust nent s. See U.S.S.G 8§ 1Bl1.5(b)(1). The sentencing court
woul d therefore apply the entirety of 8 2D1.1 to the quantity of
control | ed substances involving the protected | ocation or underage
or pregnant individual, see US S G § 2Dl.2(a)(1l), and, in
appropriate cases, to the total quantity of controlled involved in
the underlying offense, see U S.S.G § 2D1.2(a)(2).

Mor eover, as Warnick points out, the cross-reference does not
contain the phrase “Drug Quantity Table,” a phrase that is used in
other <cross-references wthin the Quidelines. See U S S G
8§ 1B1.5, comment. n.1 (citing 8§ 2D1.10(a)(1), which directs the
sentencing court to use “the offense level fromthe Drug Quantity
Table in 8 2D1.1"). Because the Sentenci ng Commi ssion el sewhere
has denmonstrated that it knows how to reference the Drug Quantity

Table when it intends to do so, the absence of “Drug Quantity



Table” in § 2D1.2(a), coupled with the inprecise neaning of
“offense level from 8§ 2D1.1 applicable to the quantity of
control |l ed substances,” renders the cross-reference anbi guous.?
Some gui dance i n construing the cross-reference i s provi ded by
the statutory directive pursuant to which the Sentenci ng Conm ssi on
enacted § 2D1.2. The background commentary to 8 2Dl1.2 expl ains
that the guideline “inplenents the direction to the Comm ssion in
Section 6454 of the Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1988.” U S. S.G § 2D1.2
comment . background. Section 6454, in turn, provides that the
Comm ssion “shall pronulgate guidelines, or anend existing
guidelines to provide that a defendant convicted of violating
sections 405, 405A, or 405B of the Controlled Substances Act (21
U S C 845, 845a or 845b) [currently codified at 21 U S CA

88 859-61] involving a person under 18 years of age shall be

assigned an offense level . . . that is . . . two levels greater

than the level that would have been assigned for the underlying

2No other circuit has addressed the scope of § 2D1.2's cross-
reference to 8 2D1.1 in a published opinion. The Ninth Grcuit has
addressed this issue in an unpublished opinion and concl uded t hat
a defendant convicted of a 8 860 offense does not qualify for the
8§ 2D1.1(b)(6) safety val ve because the cross-reference in 8§ 2D1.2
istothe Drug Quantity Table in 8§ 2D1.1, as opposed to the entire
§ 2D1.1 offense guideline. United States v. Talo, 221 F.3d 1350,
2000 W 687718 (9th G r. 2000) (unpublished) (“Wile US. S. G 8§
2D1.2(a) (1) does refer to the ‘offense | evel’ derived fromsection
2D1.1 and not the quantity table specifically, the full text of
subsection 2D1. 2(a) (1) supports limting the offense | evel inported
fromsection 2D1.1 to that derived fromthe quantity table. The
phrase ‘applicable to the quantity of controlled substances’
confines the inquiry to the quantity table, as no other provisions
of section 2D1.1 refer to quantities of controlled substances.”).

7



controll ed substance offense.” See Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1988,

P.L. 100-690 (1988), appearing at 28 U.S.C. A. §8 994 note (enphasis
added) . Only by construing the cross-reference in 8 2D1.2 as a
cross-reference tothe entire 8§ 2D1.1 of fense gui deline are we abl e
to give effect to the statutory directive to produce an offense
| evel that is, in every case, two |levels higher than the offense
| evel that would result if the defendant had engaged in the sane
conduct but no protected |ocation, pregnant person, or underage
person were involved. Thus, based upon this directive, we concl ude
that 8 2D1.2(a)’s cross-reference requires the sentencing court to
use the entire 8 2D1.1 offense guideline.

W note that this conclusion is in tension wth the
application note to 8 2Dl1.2(a)(1l), which provides the foll ow ng
exanpl e of the operation of 8 2D1.2(a)(1)’s cross-reference:

[1]f the defendant, as part of the sane course of conduct

or common schene or plan, sold 5 grans of heroin near a

protected | ocati on and 10 grans of heroin el sewhere, the

of fense | evel fromsubsection (a)(1) would be |evel 16 (2

plus the offense |l evel for the sale of 5 grans of heroin,
the anpunt sold near the protected | ocation).

US S G 8§ 2D1.2, cnt. n.1 (enphasis added). I n concl udi ng
that the offense level is 16, the exanple notes that U S S G
§ 2D1.2(a)(1l) requires the sentencing court, after determ ning the
appropriate offense | evel under 8§ 2D1.1, to add two | evels to that
offense level. See U S S.G 8§ 2D1.2(a)(1l) (“2 plus the offense
level from § 2D1.1 applicable to the quantity of controlled
substances . . . .”7). Thus, the exanple assunes that the offense

8



| evel after referencing 8 2D1.1 is 14. The conclusion that 5
grans of heroin results in an offense | evel of 14 is one that
can be reached only by reference to the Drug Quantity Tabl e.
This is so because the exanple does not permit any increase or
decrease in the offense | evel for other provisions of § 2D1.1, and
if 8 2D1.2(a)’s cross-reference were to the entire 8§ 2D1.1
offense level, the resultant offense Ilevel would be
I ndeterm nate. Despite the tension between our construction of

8§ 2D1.2(a)'s cross-reference and this application note, where the
GQui deline or explanatory commentary conflicts with an express
statutory directive, the statutory directive controls. Uni t ed

States v. LaBonte, 520 U. S. 751, 757 (1997) (holding that, although

Congress has delegated " 'significant discretion in formulating
guidelines' " to the Conm ssion, the Comm ssion still "nmust bowto

the specific directives of Congress") (quoting Mstretta v. United

States, 488 U. S 361, 377 (1989)); Stinson, 508 U S at 38
(expl ai ning that the Guidelines coomentary "is authoritative unless

it violates the Constitution or a federal statute"); United States

v. Al exander, 100 F.3d 24, 26 (5th Cr. 1996) (“To the extent that

they interpret substantive guidelines and do not conflict with them

or with any statutory directives, policy statenents contained in

the Sentencing Guidelines are authoritative.” (enphasis added)).
Thus, insofar as the application note conflicts with the statutory

directive, it is non-binding.



[l

Havi ng concluded that 8§ 2Dl1.2's cross-reference is to the
entire 8 2D1.1 offense guideline, we nust determne whether
Warni ck’s offense of conviction renders her ineligible for the
safety valve provision found in § 2D1.1(b)(6). Section
2D1. 1(b) (6) provides, “[i]f the defendant neets the criteria
set forth in subdivisions (1)-(5) of 8 5C1.2 (Limtation on
Applicability of Statutory M ni numSentences in Certain Cases)
and the offense | evel determ ned above is | evel 26 or greater,
decrease by 2 levels.”® US.S.G § 2D1.1(b)(6). Section 5CL.2,

in turn, lists five offenses that trigger eligibility for the
safety valve. It provides:

In the case of an offense under 21 U S. C.
8 841, 8 844, § 846, 8§ 960, or § 963, the

court shall inpose a sentence in accordance
wi th the applicable guidelines wthout regard
to any statutory mninum sentence, if the

court finds that the defendant neets the
criteria in 18 US. C 8§ 3553(f)(1) (5) set
forth verbati m bel ow )

Warni ck’ s base offense |evel was 28, and she was granted a
three-level reduction for acceptance of responsibility.

10



Section 5C1.2 then lists five criteria for determ ni ng whet her the
defendant is eligible for the safety valve.* U S. S.G 8§ 5Cl.2(1)-
(5).

The district court found that Warnick nmet the criteria |listed
in 8 5C1.2(1)-(5), and the Governnent has not challenged this
finding on appeal. Neverthel ess, the Governnment argues that
Warnick is ineligible for the § 2D1. 1(b)(6) safety val ve because
her of fense of conviction, 8 860, is not anong the offenses |isted
in 8§ 5C1.2. The plain | anguage of § 2D1.1(b)(6), however, nerely
requires that a defendant neet the <criteria found iIn 8§

5C1.2(1)-(5); it does not limt the defendant’s eligibility for
the two-level downward reduction based upon the offense of

convi ction or otherwi se state that the defendant nust satisfy any

of the other requirenents found in 8 5Cl1.2.° United States v.

“The five criteria listed in § 5CL.2(1)-(5) are as follows:
t he def endant must not have nore than one crimnal history point;
must not have used violence or credible threats of violence or
possessed a weapon in connection with the offense; nmust not have
been convicted of an offense resulting in death or serious bodily
injury to any person; nust not have been an organi zer, | eader
manager, or supervisor in the offense within the neaning of the
gui del i nes, and nust not have engaged in a continuing crimna
enterprise; and, not later than sentencing, nust have truthfully
provided to the Governnent all information and evidence he has
concerning the of fense of conviction or related offenses. U S. S. G
8§ 5C1.2(1)-(5).

°Section 2D1.1(b)(6) was anmended in 2001 “by inserting
‘subsection (a) of’ after ‘(1)-(5) of’ and by striking ‘and the

of fense | evel determ ned above is | evel 26 or greater.” *© U S. S G
8§ 2D1.1(b)(6), Supp. to App. C, anend. 624 (2001). Simlarly,
§ 5Cl.2 was anended to create two subsections. The § 5C1.2

provi sion referenced here is delineated as subsection (a) in the

11



Leonard, 157 F.3d 343, 345-46 (5th Gr. 1998) (“On its face 8§
2D1. 1[ (b) (6)] applies to all defendants convicted of drug crines
whose base offense level is 26 or greater so long as they neet the

criteria listed in 8 5C1.2(1)-(5)"); United States v. Osei, 107

F.3d 101, 103-05 (2nd Gir.1997) (holding that § 2D1.1(b)(6)
operates independently from 8 5C1.2 and is subject only to the

limtations contained in 8 5Cl.2(1)-(5)); United States v.

Mertilus, 111 F.3d 870, 873-74 (1l1th Gr. 1997) (sane). Thus,
Warni ck’ s of fense of conviction does not render her ineligible for
the 8 2D1. 1(b)(6) safety val ve provision

In support of its argunent to the contrary, the Governnent
points to several cases holding that 8 860 offenses are ineligible
for the safety valve provisions in U S. S.G 8 5Cl.2 and 18 U. S. C A

§ 3553(f). See, e.qg., United States v. Kakatin, 214 F.3d 1049,

1052 (9th Gr. 2000) (holding that a 8§ 860 offense is not eligible

for the statutory safety valve found in 8§ 3553(f)); United States

v. Anderson, 200 F.3d 1344, 1347 (11th Cr. 2000) (concl uding that

a conviction under 8 860 is not eligible for the § 5Cl.2 safety
val ve provision pursuant to the canon of statutory construction

that the inclusion of the one inplies the exclusion of others:

inclusio unius est exclusio alterius); United States v. McQuilKin,
78 F.3d 105, 108 (3d Cir. 1996) (“By its terns, 18 U.S.C. § 3553(f)

applies only to convictions under 21 U S.C. 88 841, 844, 846, 961

anended ver si on

12



and 963. Section 860 is not one of the enunerated sections.”). W
do not find these cases persuasive authority as to whether 8§ 860
offenses are eligible for +the safety wvalve provision in
8§ 2D1.1(b)(6) because §8 5Cl1.2 and its statutory counterpart each
address the elimnation of the statutory m ni numsentence, whereas
8§ 2Dl1.1(b)(6) addresses a two-level downward reduction in the
of fense | evel. Thus, jurisprudence addressing whether § 860
of fenses qualify for the 8§ 5ClL.2 and § 3553(f) safety valve
provi sions is inapposite.
I V.

For the foregoi ng reasons, we conclude that the district court
inproperly found that Warnick is ineligible for a two-Ievel
reduction in her offense | evel pursuant to U.S.S.G 8§ 2D1. 1(b)(6).
Therefore, we vacate and remand for the district court to
reconsi der Warnick’s sentence after determning the appropriate
of fense | evel .

VACATED AND REMANDED
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